Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-12-2018

Matter of Estate of Smith Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45313

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arrives on appeal from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the magistrate court on March 9, 2017.² Pursuant to Idaho Code § §17-201, "[a]n appeal may be taken to the district court of the county from a judgment, or order of the magistrates division of the district court in probate matters: ... [a]gainst or in favor of the validity of a will ...". While ordinarily an appeal from a magistrate's decision would proceed to the district court, this Court accepted the appeal upon an expedited basis.

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves the administration and disposition of the Estate of Victoria H. Smith. On February 14, 1990, Victoria handwrote and signed a holographic will (the "Will"). Ex 208.³ Following a two-day court trial, on March 9, 2017, the court entered its FFCL, wherein the court set aside the Will upon the ground that it was the product of undue influence by Vernon. The

¹ Noah G. Hillen is the Personal Representative of the Estate of Victoria H. Smith. Mr. Hillen was not a party to the trial and was appointed as a "special administrator" pursuant to the court's March 9, 2017 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order. Mr. Hillen was subsequently appointed as the Personal Representative. For reasons of judicial economy, issues relating to the supervised administration of this Estate are subject to the Order Granting Motion for Clarification and the stipulation of the parties.

² Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered May 10, 2017, hereinafter "FFCL." R 1567-1603.

The Record on Appeal contains four parts. Part I contains the pleadings that are part of the record on appeal and is consecutively paginated from 000001-001788, with a supplement at 001788-001830. Part I will be cited as "R __". Part 2 contains the transcripts of audiotaped hearings and is consecutively paginated from I-349, and will be cited as "Tr __" Part 3 contains the trial transcripts and is consecutively paginated from I-500 and will be cited as "TT__". Finally, Part 4 contains the trial exhibits and will be referred to by trial exhibit number and cited as "Ex__".

court thus ordered that Victoria died intestate.

The court, by its incorrect pretrial rulings, admission of irrelevant evidence at trial, and erroneous application of the law, reached a decision that was both result-driven and improper in multiple respects. Prior to the trial, the court improperly made numerous sua sponte rulings granting relief beyond the scope of the pleadings and beyond its jurisdictional authority. The court's FFCL were no exception to the trend of adverse rulings and cursory, if any, consideration of facts that were inconsistent with the court's predisposition to view Victoria as a "vulnerable" woman incapable of drafting her own Will. By its FFCL, the court decreed that Victoria was intellectually incapable of drafting the holographic Will and that the Will therefore was the result of Vernon's undue influence. The court's erroneous interpretation of Idaho law resulted in the admission of testimony and exhibits regarding events, activities, and statements that had no probative value upon whether or not the Will was the product of Victoria's freewill. The majority of the evidence presented at trial involved statements that were laced with speculation and innuendo and occurred years or decades after Victoria drafted her Will. The court's legal conclusions, its admission of irrelevant evidence, and its findings of fact and conclusions of law are reviewed by this Court de novo. These errors substantially prejudiced Vernon and thus constitute reversible error.

Vernon respectfully requests this Court vacate the FFCL and remand this case with instructions to the court to enter judgment in Vernon's favor, dismissing the Petitions of Joseph H. Smith. In addition, Vernon respectfully requests this Court reverse the court's Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment upon the 2012 Transfers, together with the June 2, 2017 Judgment on

Motion Under Rule 70(b) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. R 1733-1740.

The court further erred in its prevailing party determination and award of attorney fees and costs to Joseph upon the trial and in its decision to appoint a special administrator. Vernon therefore respectfully requests the Court remand this case to the magistrate court to make a finding that Vernon is the prevailing party and is entitled to his costs, below and upon appeal.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This action commenced on August 13, 2014, upon the filing of a Petition for Appointment of Special Administrator and Assignment of Powers and Duties, by Sharon Bergmann ("Bergmann"). R 36-44.⁵ Bergmann is an ex-spouse and alleged creditor of Vernon. On October 3, 2014, Joseph filed a Petition for Formal Adjudication of Intestacy and Formal Appointment of Personal Representative (I.C. § 15-3-302) ("Joseph's Will Petition"). R 45-48. Therein, Joseph averred that "[a]n original will, obtained by undue influence, is believed to be in the possession of Vernon K. Smith, II. Such original will has not been probated and is believed to be invalid." R 46. On October 24, 2014, Vernon filed his Application for Formal Probate of Will of Decedent Victoria H. Smith, and Formal Appointment of Personal Representative. R 194-199. On November 19, 2014, Joseph filed his objection to the same. R 200-202.

On April 30, 2015, Vernon filed his Joinder of an Indispensable Party as an Involuntary

In so far as the appointment of a Special Administrator is addressed by the FFCL, Vernon notes that this Court's Order Granting Motion for Clarification reserves issues related to the Special Administrator's/Personal Representative's appointment and administration for adjudication following this Appeal. To the extent germane to the issues before the Court at this time, Vernon submits that there was no factual basis for the magistrate court's sua sponte decree that an "emergency" existed such that the appointment of a special administrator was legally supported. R 1602. The transfer of assets the court found to be so "egregious" occurred in 2012. No subsequent transfer of title was made and there was an existing court order prohibiting Vernon from transferring the properties.

This Petition was withdrawn October 14, 2014. See R 3.

Petitioner Under Rule 19(a)(1), seeking to compel Converse to participate in these proceedings. R 283-285. A Motion to Join Involuntary Plaintiff was also filed by Joseph. R 337-338. On July 5, 2015, the court denied the motions to join Converse. Tr. p. 20, II. 9-25.

1. The Petition to Establish Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Conversion:

On February 6, 2015, Joseph filed his Petition to Establish Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Conversion. R 205-210. Therein, Joseph alleged that Vernon induced Victoria to execute two durable powers of attorney and that Vernon "breached his fiduciary duty to decedent" by, *inter alia*, transferring real property into an LLC. R 206. In addition, Joseph made a claim for conversion of Victoria's property. *Id.*⁶ Vernon filed a motion to dismiss Joseph's Petition on February 23, 2015 arguing that (1) Joseph lacked standing to pursue claims on behalf of Victoria; and (2) that any such claims were barred by the statute of limitations. R 210-211.⁷

The hearing upon Vernon's Motions to Dismiss was held July 5, 2015 before the Honorable Christopher Bieter, then presiding magistrate judge. Tr. p. 6-21. During the hearing, Joseph dismissed his claim for conversion. *Id.*, at p. 8, l. 21–p. 9, l. 8. Upon the remaining claims, Judge Bieter held that Joseph lacked standing to pursue the remaining claims raised in his Petition, but reserved entry of a final decision upon the issue pending the trial. Tr. p. 7, l. 24-p. 8, l. 6; p. 15, l. 20-p. 16, l. 15; p. 18, l. 13–p. 19, l. 2.8

2. Joseph's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment:

⁶ On April 1, 2015, Joseph filed an Amended Petition to Establish Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Conversion. R 271-277. In material part, the Amended Petition added Count III, a claim for an accounting. *Id*.

⁷ Vernon filed a motion to dismiss the Amended Petition on April 30, 2015. R 278-285.

⁸ During a hearing held December 14, 2015, Judge Bieter announced that he had a personal relationship with a recently disclosed witness, W. Thomas Faucher, and invited the parties to consider a motion to disqualify. Tr. p. 49, l. 13-p. 50, l. 8. Vernon filed a motion to disqualify Judge Bieter on December 28, 2015, which motion was granted. See R 11-12. Judge Cheri Copsey was then assigned to preside over this matter. Id.

On June 1, 2016, Joseph filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment wherein he requested the court rule "the assets of decedent Victoria H. Smith were not gifted to VHS Properties, LLC, prior to her death in 2013." R 956-57. In support, Joseph claimed that "the decedent's 2008 power of attorney to respondent did not include authority to gift her property." *Id.* Vernon opposed the motion on the ground that: (1) pursuant to the court's prior ruling and Idaho law, Joseph lacked standing to assert a claim regarding the 2012 Transfers; and (2) VHS Properties, LLC, the owner of the properties at issue had not been named as a party. R 978-1006.

Following a hearing held July 11, 2016, the court entered its July 19, 2016 Order Granting Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. R 1056-1057. The court's decision hinged upon her application of I.C. § 15-12-116. The court thus concluded Joseph had standing to "request the Court review Vernon K. Smith, Jr.'s conduct and grant appropriate relief." R 1058. The court also noted that it could award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to the prevailing party in a proceeding under this section. *Id.* The court held: "In fact, the very purpose of this section is to protect vulnerable principals, or in this case, Victoria H. Smith, from

On September 9, 2016, Vernon filed his Motion for Reconsideration of Order Entered July 19, 2016. R 1105-1191. Vernon's motion was denied during a hearing held September 26, 2016. Vernon also filed a motion, pursuant to Rule 54(b), Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure, to certify the issues decided by the court's Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment for appeal. The magistrate court also denied this motion. See e.g., Brief in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Appeal of Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, Supreme Court Docket No. 45313-2017.

Motion to Dismiss Appeal of Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, Supreme Court Docket No. 45313-2017.

The court's decision omits reference to section (2), I.C. § 15-12-116, which provides: "Upon motion by the principal, the court shall dismiss a petition filed under this section, unless the court finds that the principal lacks capacity to revoke the agent's authority or the power of attorney."

capacity to revoke the agent's authority or the power of attorney."

11 By footnote, the court commented "The Court recognizes that Judge Bieter came to a different conclusion. However, in reviewing the hearing recordings and the record, it does not appear that anyone brought the appropriate statutory section to his attention. ... Joseph H. Smith would also qualify as a presumptive heir, unless the holographic will is declared valid." R 1058 (emphasis added).

¹² Neither of the Petitions filed by Joseph, nor the motion for summary judgment itself, included a request for an award of attorney fees. *See* R 205-208; 271-277; 956-957. Vernon timely objected to the request on August 1, 2016, on August 8, 2016, and on August 11, 2016. R 16-17.

financial abuse. This case is a classic example, crying out for a remedy." R 1058.

Pursuant to the court's July 19, 2016 invitation, on July 25, 2016, Joseph submitted his Memorandum of Costs and Attorney Fees. R 16. During a hearing held August 23, 2016, the magistrate court ruled that Joseph was entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs. Tr. p. 99, Il. 6-12. The court later awarded the entirety of the attorney fees sought by Joseph. R 1602.

3. Pretrial Motions and the Trial:

On August 19, 2016, Vernon filed a Motion to Vacate and Reset the Trial. See R 17. On August 23, 2016, the court denied Vernon's Motion to Vacate and Reset the Trial, stating "I have read all of the material, Mr. Smith. You have an uphill battle. I see no reason to change the trial date." Tr. p. 102, Il. 5-13. During the same hearing, the court sua sponte offered that the accounting thus far provided by Vernon was, in her estimation, inadequate. Tr. p. 99, I. 13-p. 100, I. 8. Vernon was not permitted to respond to the court's concern. Id. The court thus ordered Vernon to provide an accounting to the court within 10 days. Tr. p. 100, Il. 4-14.

On October 14, 2016, this matter came on for hearing upon various pretrial motions, among which was Vernon's motion in limine with respect to the application of the presumption of undue influence. Vernon asserted that the presumption did not arise because there was no evidence of a fiduciary relationship with respect to the execution of the Will. The court disagreed and ruled that the presumption of undue influence arose as a matter of law by virtue of Vernon's prior affidavits extolling his efforts to assist Victoria. Tr. p. 187, l. 19–p. 188, l. 8.

The case ultimately proceeded to trial on October 25, 2016. Evidence was presented over

the course of two days. The court's written FFCL followed on March 9, 2017. The court thereafter entered its award of costs to Joseph, decreeing that he was the prevailing party.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Victoria was born

New York City. Ex 256. As a young woman,
Victoria moved to Washington DC and was employed with the Veteran's Administration. *Id*.

While in Washington DC working, she met Vernon Sr. Victoria and Vernon Sr. were married in June, 1938, and moved to Idaho where Vernon Sr. began his career as an attorney. *Id*. Victoria and Vernon Sr. had three children, Joseph, Victoria Converse, and Vernon. *Id*. Upon moving to Idaho, Victoria chose to quit working outside the home. *Id*. In 1966, Vernon Sr. died from a heart attack. TT p. 186, l. 24–p. 187, l. l. Victoria never remarried. TT p. 187, ll. 2-3. At the time of Vernon Sr.'s death, Vernon Sr. had been generating roughly \$300,000.00 per year through his law practice. TT p. 189, ll. 2-14. He and Victoria had amassed considerable real property including, but not limited to, 1280 acres in Hamer, Idaho ("Hamer Farm"), 520 acres in Ada County near Gowen Field, and approximately 176 acres on Chinden Blvd. in Boise, Idaho ("Ranch" or "Home Place"). Upon Vernon Sr.'s death, Victoria inherited her husband's estate pursuant to Vernon Sr.'s own holographic will. Ex 200 (a copy of which is attached hereto as Addenda A). *See also* TT p. 188, l. 19–p. 191, l. 23.

1. Victoria's Holographic Will

On February 14, 1990, Victoria handwrote and signed her Will. Ex 208 (a copy of which is attached hereto as Addenda B). Vernon witnessed Victoria's signature later that day. TT p.

¹³ The FFCL includes a gratuitous reiteration and supplementation of the court's prior grant of summary judgment, as well as an award of attorney fees incident thereto.

209, l. 12-p. 212, l. 20; p. 337, l. 8-p. 339, l. 1. The Will remained in Victoria's exclusive control in her roll-top desk until 2010 when Vernon moved it to his law office because of the increased number of people visiting her home. *Id*.

For nearly twenty years after Victoria drafted her Will, she continued to live an independent lifestyle in her own home and with limited support of family members. For example, family members would drive her to appointments, to church, mobile libraries, and to bridge games. *See e.g* TT p. 403, II. 3-13, TT p. 134, I. 11 – p. 136, I. 13. Victoria continued to attend church on a regular basis until 2007. TT p. 404, II. 1-16. She lived alone until 2008, balancing her own checkbook, paying her bills, and personally contracting, supervising, and scrutinizing work on or around her home. Ex 265, 266, 267, 268; *see also* TT p. 292, I. 12 – p. 293, I. 23. During that time, Victoria regularly appeared for routine medical appointments where she was reported to be in relatively good health. TT p. 12, I. 4–p. 13, I. 10; p. 16, I. 10-13; p. 17, I. 1-11; p. 24, I. 19–p. 27, I. 3. Following a fall at her home in 2008, Vernon hired in-home assistance to help care for Victoria. TT p. 213, I. 1–p. 214, I. 3. Victoria continued to reside in her home on the Ranch until her death in 2013. Victoria was nearly 100 years old at her death.

Between 1990 and 2008, Victoria re-affirmed her intent to leave her estate to Vernon on at least several occasions and provided her reasons therefore both verbally and in writing. See TT p. 136, Il. 14-21 (Ms. Puckett); TT p. 300, I. 4-p. 301, I. 5 (Mr. Dillworth); Ex 4 at pg. 2. In addition, Victoria expressly disavowed any inference or claim of undue influence in the drafting of her Will in an Affidavit she executed February 6, 1991, wherein Victoria decreed "No one tells me who will inherit my property." Ex 269 (emphasis added).

2. Victoria's Relationships with her Children:

Victoria did not maintain a relationship with her daughter, Converse, before or after the Will was executed. See e.g., TT p. 315, l. 2-11 (identifying arguments in and around 1985/1986). Converse resides in Oregon and has lived there since at least 1974. See R 46 at ¶6; TT p. 486, ll. 20-23. Converse was a devout, born-again Christian and Victoria was a Catholic. Consequently "they had a lot of disagreements on religion." TT p. 142, ll. 1-7; p. 315, ll. 2-11. Converse did not attend her mother's funeral. TT p. 38, l. 18–p. 39, l. 14. Converse, a putative heir, was provided with notice of these proceedings and nevertheless chose not to participate in the claims asserted by Joseph. Converse identified her rationale and refusal to become involved in these proceedings in a lengthy and scathing email she drafted to her brothers following her mother's death. Vernon sought to introduce the email as Exhibit 257 at trial, but the court refused.

Joseph was the oldest of Victoria's children. *See* R 197. Joseph pursued a career driving truck and he and Vernon managed Victoria's farm properties until 1992. TT p. 334, l. 22 – p. 335, l. 3. Joseph and his family members also provided rides and transportation to Victoria. *See e.g.*, TT. at p. 171, l. 15–p. 172, l. 16. Joseph did not provide any financial support to his mother. *See generally*, TT. Joseph did, however, receive many gifts and loans from his mother. For instance, Victoria gifted to Joseph real and personal property including, but not limited to, a piano, an acre of ground in 1976 adjacent to her own home on the Ranch property, a permanent easement to get to that ground in 1986, and a house in 1963. *See e.g.*, Ex 208, 201. Joseph was the only child to receive real property from Victoria. TT 64, ll. 6-24. Between 1988 and her death, Victoria also gave Joseph a number of gifts and loans. *See e.g.*, TT p. 65, l. 8–p. 68 l. 25;

Ex 202 (loan for \$19,600 dated September 7, 1988), Ex 203 (loan for \$2,000 dated October 21, 1988), Ex 204 (loan for \$4,700 dated October 28, 1989), Ex 205 (gift of \$9,999 dated December 8, 1989); Ex 210 (loan for \$7,000 dated June 29, 1990); Ex 211 (loan for \$1,500 dated July 30, 1990); Ex 213 (loan of \$2,500 dated February 12, 1991); Ex 215 (loan for \$6,000 dated April 1, 1991). Of these loans, four <u>followed</u> the execution of the Will and none were arranged with or involved Vernon. TT p. 77, Il. 8-18; p. 78, Il. 2-7; p. 79, Il. 10-20.

Joseph remained active in Victoria's business affairs until December, 1991. TT p. 74, ll. 3-10. In or around December 1991, Joseph acknowledged that Victoria preferred Vernon to handle her business dealings and transactions. TT p. 81, l. 16-p. 82, l. 11; Ex 218, 219; see also Ex 220 (letter from Joseph to Vernon: "I am withdrawing from all involvement of mother's business dealings and scenarios due to the simple fact mother prefers you and your style."). After 1992, Joseph's communication with his mother was primarily reduced to written communication. See e.g., Exs 224, 229, 231, 234, 236, 238. These letters contain no claims that Vernon was the cause of the break down. Instead, they acknowledge that the "hateful words ... have come from your own heart." Ex 223 (September 23, 1992 letter from Sharon Smith to Victoria. Victoria did not share the letters or their contents with Vernon. TT p. 226, l. 16-p. 228, l. 2. Vernon was therefore not involved or informed of Victoria's communications or conversations with Joseph. TT p. 242, l. 16-p. 243, l. 1.

On August 23, 1994, Joseph authored a letter to his mother, tacitly conceding that he was aware of her intent to leave her estate to Vernon:

As I have said in earlier correspondence, you have the power to thrust me and my family out of the scenario I helped to build. I have spent the last two years trying to accept the

dispowerment of <u>your wishes</u>. That has been one of the largest assignments I have obligated to master. The second and equally difficult assignment I have had trouble mastering is accepting that you like me close to nothing.

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