Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-5-2018

Matter of Estate of Smith Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45313

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

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact and conclusions of law: A recent decision of this Court is consistent with multiple Idaho decisions that an appellate court "will not disturb findings of fact that are supported by substantial and competent evidence". As to conclusions of law, these are "freely reviewed" and, thus, subject to the appellate court "drawing its own conclusions from the facts presented in the record".

On review by this Court, a trial court's conclusions following a bench trial will be limited to a determination of whether the evidence supports the trial court's findings of fact, and whether those findings support the conclusions of law. *Oregon Mut. Ins. Co. v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 148 Idaho 47, 50, 218 P.3d 391, 394 (2009). This Court will "liberally construe the trial court's findings of fact in favor of the judgment entered, as it is within the province of the trial court to weigh conflicting evidence and testimony and judge the

credibility of witnesses." *Id;* see also *Beckstead v. Price,* 146 Idaho 57, 61, 190 P.3d 876, 880 (2008) (regarding findings of fact in view of the trial court's role as trier of fact). *This Court will not disturb findings of fact on appeal that are supported by substantial and competent evidence, even if there is conflicting evidence at trial. Panike & Sons Farms, Inc. v. Smith, 147 Idaho 562, 565-66, 212 P.3d 992, 995-96 (2009). Only erroneous findings will be set aside. <i>Id.* at 565, 212 P.3d at 995. Also, this Court has always held that its view of the facts will not be substituted for that of the trial court. *See Weitz v. Green,* 148 Idaho 851, 857, 230 P.3d 743, 749 (2010). Finally, conclusions of law are freely reviewed by this Court, drawing its own conclusions from the facts presented in the record. *Griffith v. Clear Lakes Trout Co.,* 146 Idaho 613, 619, 200 P.3d 1162, 1168 (2009).

Green River Ranches, LLC, v. Silva Land Co., LLC, 162 Idaho 385, 397 P.3d 1144, 1148 (2017), quoting *Watkins Co, LLC, v. Storm,* 152 Idaho 531, 535, 272 P.3d 503, 507 (2012) (emphasis added).

In the probate context, this same standard of review prevails both as to the issue of undue influence and whether the presumption of undue influence should be invoked. See *Estate of Conway*, 152 Idaho 933, 277 P.3d 380, 385 (2012).

<u>Summary judgment:</u> Respondent Joseph concurs with the standard of review for summary judgments set forth in Appellant's Brief (p. 4). That is, the issue presented, i.e., the scope of the Power of Attorney, is a pure question of law and does not implicate questions of material fact.

Evidentiary rulings: Any error in the admission of evidence that does not affect the substantial rights of the parties will be disregarded, i.e., an "abuse of discretion" standard is applied. Howell v. Eastern Idaho Railroad, Inc., 135 Idaho 733, 24 P.3 d 50, 55 (2001); I.R.E., Rule 103. The appellate review of a trial court's decision as to the relevancy of evidence is a de novo review. *Id.*

RESULT SOUGHT AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Result sought: As a preliminary issue, Respondent Joseph seeks a dismissal of this appeal as it pertains to the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment. The motion to dismiss (previously denied by the Court) is sought based upon Appellant's failure to file a timely notice of appeal.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 13

Assuming the motion to dismiss remains denied, Respondent Joseph seeks an affirmance of the entry of partial summary judgment against Appellant Vernon, which concluded that he lacked the authority to make pre-death conveyances of Estate property. Respondent Joseph also seeks an affirmance of the trial court's Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. p. 1567) that the subject holographic Will was invalidated by the undue influence of its sole beneficiary Vernon, Mrs. Smith's undisputed attorney and fiduciary.

Summary of argument:

(1) Partial summary judgment: The Magistrate correctly invalidated Vernon's 2012 conveyance of Mrs. Smith's assets to his LLC in its Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment. Mrs. Smith's 2008 POA (Exhibit 4), did not include gifting authority and, therefore, did not authorize Vernon's 2012 conveyance to his limited liability company, VHS Properties, LLC. (Exhibit 5) As the Magistrate ruled as a matter of law:

Because the 2008 Power of Attorney did not contain a specific, **express** grant of authority to gift the Victoria H. Smith property, Vernon K Smith had no authority to gift her property to anyone or to himself.

Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment, p. 12 (bolded in original), citing Idaho Code § 15-12-201(1)(b). (R. p. 1060)

That is, there is no genuine issue of material fact which requires litigation. Rule 56(c), I.R.C.P. The Estate assets remain intact and are subject to probate following Mrs. Smith's demise in 2013.

(2) Existence of undue influence: Whether by invocation of the presumption or by a preponderance of the evidence, the holographic Will was procured by undue influence: the Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which invalidated the holographic Will, should be affirmed

based upon: (1) upon the existence of "substantial and competent evidence" of undue influence. (2) appellate deference to the Magistrate's weighing of conflicting evidence, and (3) its judging the credibility of witnesses. *Watkins Co., LLC, v. Storms*, 152 Idaho at 535, 272 P.3d at 507 (2012).

THE MAGISTRATE'S SUMMARY JUDGMENT CORRECTLY RULED,
AS A MATTER OF LAW,- THAT VERNON'S PRE-DEATH CONVEYANCE
OF ESTATE ASSETS TO HIS LLC WAS INVALID IN THE ABSENCE
OF GIFTING AUTHORITY IN MRS. SMITH'S POWER OF ATTORNEY.

Vernon, the sole principal of VHS Properties, LLC, was a litigant before the Magistrate which conferred jurisdiction to invalidate Vernon's deed to VHS as exceeding his Power of Attorney: The Idaho Supreme Court has recognized the "conclusive" power of probate courts to adjudicate questions of title to real property as between Estate heirs. *Pincock v. Pocatello Gold*, 100 Idaho 325, 597 P.2d 211, 215 (1979).

The evidence is undisputed that prior to Mrs. Smith's death Vernon, utilizing his Power of Attorney, conveyed the Estate real property to his limited liability company, VHS Properties, LLC. Vernon became the sole owner of this LLC when, the next day, he conveyed Mrs. Smith's membership in the LLC to himself. See Appellant Brief, page 13, referencing "R 74-77".

As a result of this transfer of real estate, Vernon saw himself as the recipient of a gift from his mother, although transferred to himself by his invocation of her Power of Attorney, i.e., "[s]he wanted me to have the entire Estate, and I chose to take it by deed transfer as opposed to testamentary disposition" (Tr. p. 352, L. 5-12). As is observed in Appellant's Brief: "Vernon reasoned that these transfers were consistent with his mother's intent that he inherit her property and also serve an estate planning and tax purpose". *Id.*, p. 13. In ruling upon the validity of Vernon's transfer pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the Magistrate was adjudicating and settling the heirs' interest in the subject real property. *Pincock v. Pocatello Gold*, 597 P.2d at 215. Such adjudication was clearly within the RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 15

Magistrate's subject matter jurisdiction.

Respondent Joseph's standing to challenge Appellant Vernon's 2012 conveyance of Mrs. Smith's real property: Utilizing the 2008 Power of Attorney ("POA") (Exhibit 4), Appellant Vernon conveyed the entirety of Mrs. Smith's assets to his limited liability company, VHS Properties, LLC (Exhibit 5; R pp. 1577-83). Under the authority of the Uniform Power of Attorney Act ("UPAA"), Idaho Code § 15-12-116(1), respondent Joseph had standing to challenge the validity of the conveyance in his motion for summary judgment: "The following persons may petition a court to construe a power of attorney or review the agent's conduct and grant appropriate relief: . . . (d) The principal's spouse, parent or descendant; (e) an individual who would qualify as a presumptive heir of the principal . . " In her summary judgment order, the Magistrate cited this statute which acknowledged Joseph's standing, as both a descendant and presumptive heir, to request the Court review Vernon's conduct under the POA and "grant appropriate relief" (R. p. 1058).

Ignoring the standing which a "descendant" or "presumptive heir" has under the UPAA, Vernon argues that only a "living principal" can invoke the remedies imposed by the UPAA: "It is clear that those provisions, by design, are intended for the benefit of a living principal . . . The time for Joseph to have sought such judicial relief was while Victoria was still alive (Appellant's Brief, p. 16, 17). This argument trashes the plain language of the statute and severely dilutes the protections afforded a principal by limiting such protections to a pre-death invocation.

The Official Comment to § 15-12-116 confirms that section (1) "sets forth broad categories of persons who have standing to petition the court for construction of the power of attorney or review the agent's conduct ." The succeeding section (§ 15-12-117) confirms the standing of a presumptive heir or descendant to challenge an agent's conduct under a POA, whether the principal

is living or dead: "An agent that violates this chapter is liable to the principal or the principal's successor in interest . . ." (emphasis added).

Appellant's cited case law fails to support the contention that an agent's abuses cannot be addressed after the death of the principal; Vernon cites *In re Burke Estate*, Del.Ch. Lexis 121 (2016) as authority for the proposition that petitions for judicial relief challenging an agent's actions can only be made during the lifetime of the principal. First, this decision, by the Court of Chancery, has been superseded by the Supreme Court of Delaware in *Burke v. Burke*, 082417 DESC. 48 (2017). Secondly, this case has no relevance to the case at bench. In *Burke*, the agent in a power of attorney was also the residuary beneficiary under the subject will. Therefore, the proceeds in question would go to her in any event, i.e., there was no justiciable controversy. Thirdly, the Chancery Court decision cited a Delaware statute in footnote 14 which appears to track Idaho's UPAA and provides that an agent is required to present an accounting when so requested by the beneficiary or personal representative "upon the death of the principal". See Idaho Code § 15.42-114(8).

The doctrine of res judicata did not bar Joseph's motion for partial summary judgment 'invalidating Vernon's conveyance of Mrs. Smith's assets to his limited liability company: In general terms, Judge Bieter's treatment of Joseph's petition alleging fiduciary breach was neither dispositive nor did it involve the same issues as Joseph's summary judgment motion. Joseph's petition sought damages for Vernon's fiduciary breach in the handling of Estate assets; Joseph also sought an accounting (R. p. 271). By contrast, in the summary judgment motion, he alleged that Vernon acted outside the power of attorney and sought an order that Mrs. Smith's assets be transferred back to the Estate.

More to the point from a res judicata standpoint, Judge Bieter did not rule but "reserved" a

decision: "So let's talk about when we can try that. I'm going to reserve decision on the motion to dismiss Counts I and III [breach of fiduciary duty and accounting] but to let you (sic) contest the will" (Tr. P. 15, L. 20 to p. 16, L. 15) (bracketed material explanatory).

The elements for the application of res judicata do not exist here. First, there was no "valid final judgment" which preceded the summary judgment proceedings. Secondly, the issue presented in Joseph's petition, i.e., fiduciary breach in the mishandling of Estate assets, was different than the summary judgment issue, i.e., the validity of Vernon's gift of all Estate assets to his limited liability company. See *Lohman v. Flynn*, 139 Idaho 312, 319, 78 P.3d 379 (2003).

<u>Vernon's invocation of the "coupled with an interest" exclusion is both irrelevant and inapplicable to his "interest" as merely an expectant heir:</u> Section 15-12-103 (1) of the UPAA excludes from the Act "a power to the extent it is coupled with an interest . . . ", citing as an example "a power given to or for the benefit of a creditor . . . "

First, the "coupled with an interest" provision goes to the revocability of a POA, not the scope of the POA, which is the issue here. As noted by the Magistrate in her Order Denying Reconsideration:

"[I]n order that a power may be irrevocable because coupled with an interest, it is necessary that the interest shall be in the subject matter of the power, and not in the proceeds which will arise from the exercise of the power".

Id, p. 17 (R. p. 1346), quoting *What Constitutes Power Coupled with an Interest within Rule as to Termination of Agency*, 28 A.L.R. 1243 §2(a).

Secondly, Vernon's interest in Mrs. Smith's Estate in 2012, at the time he made the transfer to his limited liability company, was a mere expectant interest, i.e., a prospective heir who had no enforceable interest against the assets of the Estate. As observed by the Magistrate:

Thus, in order for the agent's power to be "coupled with an interest", the agent must have a property interest in the thing which is the subject of the agency [authority cited]. Vernon K. Smith, Jr., did not have a property interest in the subject matter of the 2008 Power of Attorney.

Order Denying Reconsideration, p. 18 (R. p. 1347).

Even if Vernon did hold an enforceable interest in the Estate, i.e., a "coupled interest", this feature does not expand the scope of the POA to endow him with gifting powers.

The Magistrate's invalidation of 2012 Vernon's "gifts" to his LLC is based upon the ineffective Power of Attorney: Based upon Joseph's standing, the applicability of the UPAA, and the absence of gifting authority in the POA, the Magistrate correctly concluded that the 2012 conveyances of Mrs. Smith's entire estate to Vernon's limited liability company were invalid as a matter of law: "Nothing in this power of attorney specifically or expressly authorizes the holder to gift Victoria H. Smith's property" (R. p. 1052).

And:

The Court grants partial summary judgment to Joseph H. Smith. finding there is no dispute of any fact material to this issue. The Court sets aside all "gifts or transfers Victoria H. Smith's property made pursuant to the 2008 Power of Attorney, effective immediately. The Court further orders all property returned to the estate and that no party transfer any of that property without order of this Court. Finally, the Court orders Vernon K. Smith. Jr. provide an accounting, receipts, etc. to the Court within 30 days of this Order.

R. p. 1065

By the Magistrate's Order of Partial Summary judgment, Mrs. Smith's property was retained by her Estate, to be distributed in accordance with prospective probate orders.

THE ELEMENTS OF UNDUE INFLUENCE AND THE NECESSARY RELIANCE ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Elements of undue influence: The existence of undue influence is determined through proof

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - 19

of four elements: (a) a testator who is *susceptible* to undue influence; (b) an *opportunity* to exert undue influence on the testator; (c) the *disposition* and character of the beneficiary as consistent with a person who would exert undue influence; and (d) a testamentary *result* indicating undue influence. *Gmeiner v. Yacte*, 100 Idaho 1, 6, 592 P.2d 57, 62 (1979); *In re the Estate of Conway*, 152 Idaho 933, 938, 277 P.3d 380 (2012); *Green v. Green*, 161 Idaho 675, 389 P.3d 961, 966 (2017).

Alienation and isolation: classic signposts of decedent' susceptibility and of Vernon's opportunity and disposition to unduly influence: In *Gmeiner*, Court noted two circumstances which support the existence of undue influence and which exist in this record, i.e., beneficiary-induced alienation of family members and isolation of the testatrix:

The court will look closely at situations where the recipient of a deed or bequest has apparently been responsible for *alienating* the affections of the testator-grantor from the other members of his or her family. The situation is further exacerbated if the grantee has *isolated the grantor* from all contact with family or with disinterested third parties.

Id, 100 Idaho at 8 (emphasis added).

Necessary reliance on factual inferences: The *Gmeiner* Court recognized the long held view that "direct evidence as to undue influence is rarely obtainable and, hence, a court must determine the issue of undue influence by inferences drawn from all the facts and circumstances" (*Id.*, 100 Idaho at 5). Also see *In re Lunders 'Estate*, 74 Idaho 448, 263 P.2d 1002, 1006, (1953) citing *In re Hannam's Estate*, 236 P.2d 208, 210 (1951). As opined in *King v. McDonald*, 90 Idaho 272, 410 P.2d 969 (1965):

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